ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Charleston County

Stephanie P. McDonald, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 19 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

SHAWN PHILLIPS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014- 000304

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Whether the PCR court erred in failing to grant Petitioner post-conviction relief and a new trial where the trial judge admitted evidence of a prior armed robbery based on a witness's testimony that a gun stolen during that robbery was the gun used in the crimes for which Petitioner was charged when it was determined after Petitioner's trial that this witness's testimony was inaccurate?

- II. Whether the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel despite trial counsel's failure to investigate exculpatory evidence contained in a witness's statement that two other suspects were seen at the scene of the crime at the time of the gunshot?

- III. Whether trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to a witness's in-court identification of Petitioner where the witness had initially identified another suspect in a photo lineup and only identified Petitioner after an impermissibly suggestive single person show-up procedure?

STATEMENT

Indictments

On April 7, 2008, Petitioner Shawn Phillips was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury for (1) murder; (2) armed robbery; and (3) criminal conspiracy. App. 1007-1008; 1015-1016; 1023-1024.

Trial and Guilty Verdict

Petitioner was tried before the Honorable James C. Williams, Jr. and a jury on August 5-7, 2008. App. 1. Petitioner was represented by Mark A. Peper, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors G. Rutledge Durant and D. Bruce Durant. Id.

On August 7, 2008, the jury found Petitioner guilty on all counts. App. 820, l. 13 – 821, l. 14. Judge Williams deferred sentencing until September 24, 2008. App. 831, ll. 7-22. Judge Williams sentenced Petitioner to forty years for murder, thirty years for armed robbery, and five years for criminal conspiracy with all sentences to run concurrent. App. 841, ll. 3-10; 1005; 1013; 1021.

Direct Appeal

Petitioner appealed his convictions and sentences to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Chief Appellate Defender Joseph L. Savitz, III filed an appellant's brief pursuant to Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738 (1967) on Petitioner's behalf, arguing that the Trial Court committed reversible error by failing to instruct the jury on mere presence where a charge on mere presence was consistent with Petitioner's defense of duress and necessary to explain that defense. App. 845-854. The Court of Appeals dismissed Petitioner's appeal on June 8, 2011. App. 855.

Application for Post-Conviction Relief, Evidentiary Hearing and Order of Dismissal

On September 28, 2011, Petitioner filed his application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”) App. 856-875. The State filed its Return on or about December 19, 2011. App. 876-882.

An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Stephanie P. McDonald on July 26, 2012. App. 883-980. Petitioner was represented by Leigh Hunter¹, and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General David A. Spencer. App. 883. Assistant Solicitor Bruce Durant, trial counsel Mark Peper, and Petitioner each testified at the hearing. 887-961.

Judge McDonald filed her Order of Dismissal denying Petitioner’s PCR application on January 21, 2014. App. 993-1004. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

¹ Ms. Hunter passed way before the Order of Dismissal was filed, and Mark L. Archer was appointed to represent Petitioner. App. 993 n.1.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Relevant facts of trial

The State's theory of the case was that Petitioner and Lennie Mickey, who all witnesses agreed was the orchestrator of the alleged incident, robbed and shot to death a carnival worker, Robert Vargo, after a prostitute associated with the two men lured Vargo into opening the door of his hotel room.

Shortly after 11:30 p.m. on November 8, 2006, Officer Candy Johnson of the North Charleston Police Department responded to a call from the Budget Inn. App. 164, l. 1 – 165, l. 1. She was dispatched to investigate an unresponsive male in Room 244. When she arrived, she observed a deceased male, later identified as Robert Vargo, lying on his back on the bed. It appeared someone had covered his head with a pillow and shot him in the head. App. 166, l. 12 – 168, l. 20. Officer Johnson did not find a gun at the scene. App. 170, ll. 13-14.

Nitesh Patel was the assistant manager at the Budget Inn and was working at the motel on November 7, 2006. App. 179, l. 1-22. He rented Room 244 to Vargo on November 7, 2006. App. 179, l. 23 – 180, l. 3. Patel recalled that Vargo arrived with a female in a red small SUV. The female never came into the office according to Patel. App. 181, l. 24 – 182, l. 6. Patel described the female as light skinned or perhaps Hispanic. App. 190, ll. 9-25. Patel did not recall ever seeing Petitioner prior to trial. App. 191, ll. 8-10.

Al Hallman, the forensic investigation supervisor with the North Charleston Police Department, processed the motel room where Vargo was found deceased for latent fingerprints. App. 193, l. 1 – 195, l. 12. Investigator Hallman made no fingerprint

identifications to any persons or defendants involved in the case, including Petitioner. App. 198, ll. 17-21. He found two fingerprints on a toilet lid which he identified as matching an Adasha Mapp, a black female. App. 198, ll. 17-21; 201, l. 25 – 202, l. 4; 203, l. 21 – 204, l. 11. Investigator Hall confirmed on cross-examination that he did not find any prints belonging to Petitioner. App. 204, ll. 16-18.

Prior to the remaining trial testimony, an *in camera* hearing outside of the presence of the jury was held to determine the admissibility of a prior armed robbery under State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Alec Browne testified that on November 5, 2006 he was staying at the In-Town Suites on Savannah Highway. Around 8:45 p.m., he was lying in his bed watching television with the door propped open when two black males came inside, one with a gun. The men stole a loaded Colt Detective Special that had three rounds of star fire and three rounds of semi-wad cutter. The men had masks on so Browne could not identify their faces. App. 208, l. 1 – 211, l. 16. There was no way Browne could identify the men. App. 218, ll. 13 – 21.

Angela Agagas next testified during this *in camera* hearing. She was the girlfriend of Petitioner at the time. She said on the night of November 7, 2006 – the night Vargo was killed – Lennie and Petitioner had a short and silver gun with them. Angela claimed they got this gun from a robbery at the In-Town Suites. App. 223, l. 1 – 225, l. 6. She said she was in the car while Lennie and Petitioner committed the robbery at the In-Town Suites. App. 225, l. 25 – 226, l. 4. Angela further testified that Lennie had the gun when they got back from the robbery at the In-Town Suites and that Lennie also had this same gun on the night of November 7, 2006 at the Travel Lodge. App. 226, ll. 15-23; 227, ll. 17-21.

Angela was insistent that Lennie took the same silver gun stolen at the In-Town Suites to the robbery of Vargo at the Budget Inn. App. 229, l. 13 - 230, l. 10; 232, ll. 3-7.

The Trial Court ultimately ruled that the testimony about the prior armed robbery was admissible, finding clear and convincing evidence that Petitioner was involved in the In-Town Suites robbery based off of the testimony of Angela and her testimony that the gun stolen in the In-Town Suites robbery was the gun taken to the robbery of Vargo. App. 247, l. 6 - 248, l. 23. The Trial Court ruled it was highly probative to “allow the [State] to present evidence of the [armed robbery] in an effort to show the alleged murder weapon was in Petitioner’s hands immediately prior to the murder.” App. 248, ll. 9-13.

The jury returned, and Angela Agagas testified at trial against Petitioner. She had been seeing him and eventually had his child. She had a long criminal record, being convicted of counterfeiting and fraud in 1998 and strong arm robbery, forgery, breaking and entering of two motor vehicles, and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature in 2001. At the time of trial, she had pending charges against her for armed robbery, grand larceny of a vehicle, and conspiracy. App. 259, l. 1 - 262, l. 25.

On November 6, 2006, Angela checked into the Travel Lodge in North Charleston with Petitioner and Lennie Mickey. Lennie used his id to check into the room. Lennie was one of Petitioner’s friends, and Angela met Lennie through Petitioner. The vehicle they had at the time was a red tracker. App. 263, l. 6 - 264, l. 10.

Angela testified that Lennie had a short, silver gun on him when they checked into the Travel Lodge. Angela claimed the gun came from a previous robbery that Lennie and Petitioner were involved in a couple of days prior at the In-Town Suites on Savannah Highway. Angela said she was in the car with Lennie and Petitioner when they committed

the robbery at the In-Town Suites. According to Angela, Lennie maintained possession of this gun that he took from the In-Town Suites robbery. App. 264, l. 11 – 266, l. 10.

On November 7, 2006, Lennie and Petitioner went to a store and when they came back to the Travel Lodge motel, they came back with a girl named Alana Niesen. This was the first time that Angela had met Alana. App. 266, ll. 11-22. The four sat around the motel room, and Alana got high. Angela claimed that both Lennie and Petitioner asked Alana if she knew anyone they could rob. Alana was skeptical at first, but then finally told them that just left a guy at a nearby hotel whom they could probably rob. App. 267, l. 1 – 268, l. 1. According to Angela, Lennie and Petitioner wanted Alana to help them get into the guy's hotel room, but Alana did not want any part of it. She did not want the guy to know that she had set him up. App. 268, ll. 2-7.

Angela testified that Petitioner called up a girl that he knew and asked if she would help them out. Lennie, Petitioner, and Alana then left to pick up this girl and bring her back to the hotel room. Her name was Sandra Barnes. She often went by the nickname B.G. App. 268, ll. 8-24.

Alana then called the guy she knew and told him she had a girl for him. Alana took Lennie, Petitioner, and Sandra to the motel where the guy was staying and pointed out which room he was staying. They returned back to the Travel Lodge after about five minutes. App. 270, ll. 8-17.

Angela said that Lennie, Petitioner, and Sandra left to return to the Budget Inn to go commit the robbery while she and Alana stayed at the Travel Lodge. App. 270, l. 18 – 271, l. 1. The plan, according to Angela, was that Sandra was going to knock on the door, and when the guy opened it, Lennie and Petitioner were going to go in and rob him. App. 271,

ll. 2-8. Angela claimed that Lennie had the same gun stolen from the In-Town Suites robbery. App. 269, l. 24 – 270, l. 7; 271, ll. 9-12. Angela said the three left late at night for the Budge Inn, between 10:45 p.m. and 11:15 p.m. App. 271, ll. 13-18.

Angela testified that Sandra was only gone a few minutes. Sandra apparently told Angela that Lennie and Petitioner were in the man's hotel room. Approximately five to ten minutes later, Petitioner returned to the Travel Lodge. Angela claimed Petitioner appeared upset and said that Lennie had shot the man. When Lennie got back to the room, he was "pretty pumped up" and ready to get out of there. The five of them packed up their stuff. Angela and Petitioner left in a red tracker, and Lennie, Sandra, and Alana left in a red Durango. App. 271, l. 18 – 272, l. 25.

Alana Neisen first met Robert Vargo on November 6, 2006. She was introduced to him by her drug dealer. They met at the Motel Six on Ashley Phosphate Road, and she stayed the night getting high with Vargo, her brother, and her drug dealer. App. 330, l. 7 – 331, l. 3.

On November 7, 2006, Alana received a call from Vargo because he needed a ride to a different hotel. She picked him up in a red Dodge Durango. App. 331, ll. 11 – 23. She eventually took him to the Budget Inn and remained in the car while he checked in. App. 331, l. 24 – 332, l. 7. She helped him bring his items to his room. When Alana got to his room, there were already two other guys with Vargo in the room. These two other guys were selling drugs to Vargo. App. 332, l. 8 – 334, l. 5.

Alana left and was going to go see her drug dealer at the American Lodge which was right next to the Travel Lodge. When she pulled into the American Lodge, she met Lennie, Petitioner, and two other people sitting in the backseat of the car. They were in a

red tracker. App. 334, l. 9 – 335, l. 25. This was the first time Alana had ever met Lennie and Petitioner. They wanted to know if she wanted to make some money, and she believed they were potential customers. They exchanged cell phone numbers with Alana. App. 336, ll. 9-15.

Later, Alana called Petitioner and met up with them at the Travel Lodge. In the room were Lennie, Petitioner, Angela, and Sandra. App. 337, l. 15 – 338, l. 4. Alana got high, and later Lennie had a conversation with her asking her to go to hotel doors to knock on doors so he could rob people. Alana said Petitioner was not part of this conversation and did not do much talking that night. Petitioner and Angela were doing their own thing. App. 339, l. 2 – 340, l. 1.

Alana saw Lennie with a gun. He was waving it around “like he’s not scared of anybody.” App. 340, ll. 2-10. While Alana and Lennie were talking about robbing someone, she received a telephone call from Vargo who wanted to pay Alana for sex. App. 340, l. 14 – 341, l. 5. Alana relayed to Lennie and Petitioner that Vargo had money and was staying at the Budget Inn. They wanted Alana to go over to Vargo’s room and let them in. Alana refused, so it was decided that Sandra Barnes would go instead. Alana drove by the Budget Inn with Lennie and Sandra and pointed out Vargo’s hotel room. App. 341, l. 15 – 343, l. 10. Petitioner was not in Alana’s car when she drove Lennie and Sandra by Vargo’s motel room. App. 360, ll. 2-10; 361, ll. 5-21.

They returned to the Travel Lodge. Alana called Vargo back and let him know that she had a girl for him. After Alana made that call, Lennie, Petitioner, and Sandra left. Alana and Angela stayed behind at the Travel Lodge. About five minutes later, Sandra

returned and said she got them in the room and then she ran back. App. 343, l. 21 – 345, l. 7.

Alana testified that Lennie and Petitioner returned about ten minutes later. She said she asked them what did they do to Vargo and they said that they taped him and left him in the bathroom. App. 346, ll. 6-17.

Alana verified on cross-examination that Petitioner never asked her if she knew anyone they could rob. App. 359, ll. 14-23. The only person Alana had any conversation with about robbing someone was with Lennie. App. 359, l. 24 – 360, l. 1.

Alana also testified that when she learned from her brother that someone had been murdered at the Budget Inn, she freaked and called Petitioner. Petitioner was as shocked as Alana that someone had been killed. App. 380, l. 12 – 381, l. 24.

Sandra Barnes was a prostitute who knew Petitioner. App. 407, l. 1 – 409, l. 21. On the night of November 7, 2006, Sandra was at the Country Hearth hotel on Ashley Phosphate “handling business” when she received a call from Petitioner. He wanted to pick her up to make some money through her prostitution business. Petitioner picked Sandra up. He was with Lennie and Angela. App. 410, ll. 2-25.

While in the car with Lennie, Petitioner, and Angela, Sandra said that Lennie started talking about robbing people and wanted to rob some of Sandra’s clientele. App. 411, ll. 15-23. Sandra testified that Petitioner was not talking at that time. App. 412, ll. 1-2. Sandra said she did not have any clients that would have had money on them. App. 412, ll. 5-8.

They all went to the Travel Lodge where Sandra smoked some crack. App. 412, l. 9 – 413, l. 12. Sandra, Lennie, and Petitioner left the room to go get some drinks and

cigarettes from a gas station, and they ended up meeting Alana. Petitioner got Alana's number. App. 414, l. 5 – 415, l. 3. Alana eventually came over and ended up telling them about a guy she knew who worked at the fair and had a lot of money and crack. App. 415, l. 16 – 417, l. 11. Sandra alleged that they came up with a plan where she was supposed to go to this guy's room posing as a client and then Lennie and Petitioner would enter the room. Sandra did not want to go into the room so she just agreed to knock on the door. App. 418, ll. 2-8. Sandra saw a black gun on the bed. App. 417, ll. 14-19.

According to Sandra, Alana called her client and told him that she was sending a girl over. Lennie, Petitioner, and Sandra drove the red tracker to the Budget Inn while Angela and Alana stayed at the Travel Lodge. Once they parked, all three got out of the vehicle and went up to the man's room. Sandra said she had her hand ready to knock on the door, but the man already had the door cracked and pulled it open some more. Sandra claimed that Lennie and Petitioner rushed in, pushed her out of the way, and shut the door. Lennie went in first. Sandra went back to the Travel Lodge. App. 419, l. 19 – 422, l. 12.

Lennie and Petitioner returned back to the Travel Lodge about five or ten minutes later. Sandra claimed Petitioner was acting calm while Lennie was panicked and wanted to leave. App. 422, l. 19 – 423, l. 1. Lennie told Sandra that they tied up Vargo and put in the bathtub and had only gotten fifty dollars from him and no crack. App. 424, ll. 18-24.

Later, Sandra picked out from a photo lineup a man named Dominick Lamar Ballou as the man who went with Lennie inside of Vargo's hotel room. App. 430, l. 7 – 431, l. 5; 450, ll. 19-20; 663, ll. 4-6. When Petitioner was brought in for questioning, Petitioner was placed in an interview room and Sandra was placed into the observation room which had a two way mirror and asked if she could identify the person in that room. She then identified

Petitioner as the person with Lennie the night of the incident. App. 452, l. 11 – 453, l. 2. Petitioner was the only person in that room and the only person Sandra had a choice to select. App. 454, ll. 5-10.

Petitioner gave a statement to law enforcement in which he purportedly told investigators that he was hanging out with Lennie, Angela, Sandra, and Alana at the Traveler's Lodge. Lennie threatened that he was going to have to start shooting them unless they got some money. Petitioner left with Lennie and Sandra to go to the Budget Inn, but he never got out of the car. Lennie and Sandra got out of the car and Lennie continued to threaten Petitioner that he better not leave. Someone called "D" walked up. Lennie threw D a black cap and said "you know what time it is." Lennie, Sandra, and D walked out of Petitioner's sight. About three minutes later, Petitioner said he heard a pop like a gun shot. Petitioner tried to leave but Lennie and D ran up to the truck and got in. D told Lennie, "you shouldn't have shot the dude." D wanted to get out of the truck, but Lennie put a gun on him and said he was not going anywhere. App. 540, l. 8 – 541, l. 23.

Alec Browne testified before the jury that on November 5, 2006, he was staying at the In-Town Suites on Savannah Highway. Around 8:45 p.m., he was lying in his bed with the door propped open and two black males entered the room and robbed him. The men were wearing ski masks, so Browne could not identify them. There was no possible way he could pick the men out of a lineup. App. 304, l. 1 – 305, l. 3; 307, ll. 11-16.

During the robbery, a Colt Detective 38 Special was stolen. This gun was loaded with three rounds of star fire hollow point ammunition and three rounds of semi-wad cutter. App. 305, ll. 18-25.

Suzanne Cromer, a firearms and tool mark examiner with SLED examined the fired bullet found by law enforcement during the investigation of Vargo's homicide. App. 309, ll. 1-10; 311, l. 13 – 312, l. 3. During her examination of the projectile, she found that it was most consistent with a 38 special or a 357 magnum. App. 312, ll. 12-15. Cromer also testified the projectile recovered was consistent with the star fire round. App. 313, ll. 11-14.

Cromer testified that there were eight different types of firearms that potentially fired the bullet. App. 313, ll. 18-21. In her opinion, a Colt 38 special could have been one of the guns that fired the bullet. App. 314, ll. 22-25.

On cross-examination, Cromer conceded that she could not actually conclude affirmatively that the bullet was a star fire bullet, just that it was consistent with the makeup of such a bullet. App. 318, ll. 20-24. She also could not conclude with certainty what type of firearm fired the recovered bullet, and even in her list of the eight different types of guns that may have fired the bullet, Cromer admitted that this list was not limited to just these eight types and that there could be more types of guns that could have fired the bullet. App. 318, l. 25 – 319, l. 14.

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