ALAN WILSON
ATTORNEY GENERAL

March 25, 2015

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The PCR court did not err in finding counsel was not ineffective as counsel vigorously challenged the admission of a prior robbery from which Petitioner and his co-defendant acquired the murder weapon, and the later-discovered discrepancy concerning the color of the gun was merely impeaching and does not require reversal of Petitioner's convictions.

Phillips complains he is entitled to a new trial because the victim of the InTownes Suites robbery testified his gun was blue, while Agagas testified the stolen gun was silver. Phillips does not challenge the finding that counsel was not ineffective, but claims he is entitled to a new trial. Phillips' claim is not proper for review and he failed to show that the discrepancy in testimony between two witnesses meets the requirements for granting a new trial.

One of the two prosecutors in the case, Bruce Durant, testified as the first witness at the PCR hearing. Durant was asked about his recollection of evidence about a prior armed robbery at In Town Suites that was admitted at trial. Durant described the circumstances as follows:

[T]he connection was that one of the prostitutes that testified for us, I believe Angel Agagas, indicated that the murder weapon in this case had come from that InTowne Suites armed robbery where your client and Lennie Mickey had robbed a guest at the hotel, and during the robbery had stolen the .38 caliber revolver was used in the murder of the victim in the other case.

App. p. 891, lines 5-15.

Durant explained that co-defendant Lennie Mickey was tried first. Because they

could not secure Browne's attendance, the prosecution did not present evidence about the InTowne Suites robbery at trial. That trial ended in mistrial. Phillips was tried next. Browne testified at Phillips' trial about the InTowne Suites' robbery, but was never asked to describe the color of the gun. Next, Mickey was tried again, and it was only then that the discrepancy in the color of the gun came to light. App. pp. 892-893. Durant explained: "We didn't find out about it until the third trial. And we found out about it the same time everybody else did. As a matter of fact, that information was elicited by us." App. p. 293, lines 16-20.

Durant testified as follows about the significance of the discrepancies in color provided by Brown and Agagas:

Q: Is it fair to say that in descriptions of, say, automobiles or clothing that they – that a witness will give –

A: I would tell you this.

Q: -- differing testimony as to the actual color of these items?

A: I will tell you this, that in 30 years of doing this, descriptions you get are the least probative evidence you will ever receive in any kind of case.

App. p. 903, lines 12-23. Durant noted, "I didn't view the discrepancy in the description of the weapons as being a major point at all, quite frankly. I think it would have been more unusual if they described it exactly the same way." App. p. 906, lines 7-10.

Trial counsel found the evidence was not critical or damaging to his defense.

Speaking on the evidence of the InTownes Suites robbery, counsel testified as follows:

I wasn't worried about it, to be honest with you. It didn't matter to me whether this guy testified or not. To me it didn't

have anything to do with whether or not my guy was under duress, or whether he was a material part of this robbery, this murder.

App. p. 919, lines 7-12.

The PCR court found Durant's testimony credible. App. p. 996. The PCR court also noted, "Discrepancies, such as the color of objects like guns or automobiles, are common in trial settings and may be an issue of the quality of a witness' recollection rather than their veracity." App. p. 996. The PCR court also found that counsel was not ineffective in challenging the admissibility of the InTowne's Suites robbery and found that it would have been preserved for review if challenged on appeal. App. p. 997.

In his petition, Phillips does not state a theory to support relief. Phillips does not claim counsel was ineffective. It appears that Phillips is claiming a new trial was warranted based on after-discovered evidence, even though Phillips never explicitly makes this argument. However, the PCR court never ruled on whether the evidence constituted after-discovered evidence, so this Court should refrain from granting review of the issue. Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) ("Since this issue was neither raised at the PCR hearing nor ruled upon by the PCR court, it is procedurally barred.").

In Hayden v. State, 278 S.C. 610, 299 S.E.2d 854 (1983), this Court held that:

A party requesting a new trial based on after-discovered evidence must show that the evidence: (1) Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had; (2) Has been discovered since the trial; (3) Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before the trial; (4) Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and (5) Is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

Granting a motion on after-discovered evidence is not favored and reviewing courts

will not disturb the trial court's denial absent an error of law or abuse of discretion. State v. Needs, 333 S.C. 134, 158, 508 S.E.2d 857, 869 (1998). “[I]mpeaching must mean that which is outside the evidence already given, and impeaches that evidence; it may be by attacking the character, the motives, the integrity, or veracity of those who gave the testimony.” Johnston v. Belk-McKnight Co. of Newberry, 188 S.C. 149, 158, 198 S.E. 395, 399 (1938).

In the instant case, the robbery was admitted to tie the stolen gun and its ammunition to Mickey and Phillips for purposes of proving identity. App. pp. 245-246. Agagas' testimony is corroborated by the forensic evidence, and it is speculative at best that the trial court would have excluded the evidence based on this minor discrepancy. Phillips put himself at the scene of the crime and other witnesses testified to his involvement, so exclusion of evidence of the InTownes Suites robbery is unlikely to have affected the outcome of the trial. Additionally, evidence of the robbery established the travel of the murder weapon, but the discrepancy in the description of the weapon between its owner and Agagas is not material to guilt in this case. Further, the discrepancy is merely impeaching and does not prove that Agagas made up the robbery or that Mickey and Phillips did not steal the weapon from InTownes Suites and use it in the robbery and murder. It only shows a defect in her recollection. Accordingly, the PCR court did not err in denying Phillips a new trial. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989) (finding the PCR court's denial of an application for post-conviction relief will be upheld when supported by probative evidence).

II.

The PCR court did not err in denying relief on the grounds that counsel was ineffective for not investigating whether a witness could provide beneficial testimony where the prosecutor could not locate the witness and the witness did not testify at the PCR hearing.

Phillips complains that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate a statement that Dora Perkins gave to law enforcement. Dora Perkins did not testify at the PCR hearing. Durant testified that the prosecution was unable to locate Perkins. App. p. 900. Further, Durant related a conversation with the officer that spoke to Perkins in which the officer indicated that Perkins did not appear to be mentally stable. App. pp. 902-903.

At the time of the PCR hearing, counsel did not have a clear recollection of Dora Perkins' statement, but noted that his position was that Phillips was in the car when the robbery was committed by Mickey and another person nicknamed "D." Counsel's position is that when they returned to the car, they forced Phillips to drive at gunpoint. So he felt Dora Perkins' statement was not likely relevant to his defense. App. pp. 909-13; p. 938.

The PCR court correctly found counsel was not ineffective. No evidence indicates that any attempt to locate Dora Perkins would be successful, and the failure to present Perkins as a witness at the PCR hearing renders it speculative at best that Perkins' testimony would have been beneficial if she testified at trial. Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Bannister v. State, 333 S.C. 298, 509 S.E.2d 807 (1998). Also Counsel's testimony constitutes reasonable trial strategy, since it does not appear that Dora Perkins would have provided testimony beneficial to Phillips' duress defense. The PCR court's findings are supported by probative evidence. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624

(1989) (finding the PCR court's denial of an application for post-conviction relief will be upheld when supported by probative evidence).

III.

Trial counsel pursued reasonable trial strategy in not objecting to an in-court identification of Petitioner where trial counsel used the witness' prior misidentification to try and bolster Petitioner's statement to law enforcement. Further, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the in-court identification since two other codefendants testified about his involvement in the robbery and he admitted being involved in the robbery in his statement to law enforcement.

Duress was the best defense for Phillips in a case with no good defenses. Key to that strategy was admitting the misidentification by Sandra Barnes of a third person as "D" even though Barnes subsequently identified Phillips as "D" in a police show-up. Evidence of the misidentification meant the door was opened to evidence of the subsequent identification of Phillips as "D."² So as a matter of trial strategy, counsel was not ineffective. Further, Barnes identification was cumulative to the testimony of the other two prostitutes, who readily identified Phillips and testified about his involvement in the robbery.

Speaking on the misidentification, counsel testified as follows:

Yeah, it helped us. In my opinion, it was yet another reason that the jury should believe our written statement was to what happened because it verified that here was another guy named D, and Sandra had picked out a guy named D that was different than my client.

App. p. 946, lines 1-5.

Counsel acknowledge that Phillips' defense was his statement to police, which would stand alone without evidence that Barnes initially identified another person as D. Counsel

²"When a party introduces evidence about a particular matter, the other party is entitled to introduce evidence in explanation or rebuttal thereof, even if the latter evidence would have been incompetent or irrelevant had it been offered initially." State v. McEachern, 399 S.C. 125, 137, 731 S.E.2d 604, 610 (Ct. App. 2012).

testified, “I wanted them to understand that this is what happened. What he put in writing is what happened. As verified by the fact that you’ve heard testimony that there was another guy named D there.” Tr. p. 946, lines 19-23. As counsel noted, “And she wrote on here, this is the guy I know as D. And that’s what I wanted the jury to know.” App. p. 946, lines 24-25. Counsel agreed that admitting testimony of the misidentification opened the door to the subsequent identification of Phillips by Barnes. App. p. 947, lines 1-5.

In order to prove counsel was ineffective, a PCR applicant must show counsel’s performance was deficient and the applicant was prejudiced by the deficient performance. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Counsel’s performance will be deemed deficient if it falls “outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance.” Id. The applicant is prejudiced by the deficient performance if “there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 694. “When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” Id. at 695.

A review of counsel’s performance “must be highly deferential” and “every effort must be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel’s challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel’s perspective at the time.” Id. at 689. “[T]he existence of detailed guidelines for representation could distract counsel from the overriding mission of vigorous advocacy of the defendant’s cause.” Id. at 689.

“There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and

exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in a case.” Caprood v. State, 338 S.C. 103, 110, 525 S.E.2d 514, 517 (2000) (citing Strickland). “Judicial scrutiny of counsel’s performance must be highly deferential.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689. “Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel’s trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

Counsel’s lack of a challenge to Barnes’ identification of Phillips is the product of a reasonable trial strategy. Without testimony about Barnes’ earlier identification, there is no evidence of another “D.” Her mistake aligned fairly well with Phillips’ difficult-to-believe version of events. However, evidence of her first identification necessarily opened the door to the second identification, which counsel attacked thoroughly through cross-examination. Counsel took the best shot at a successful outcome in a situation where a successful outcome was unlikely.

Further, admission of the identification is merely cumulative to testimony from China and Agagas identifying Phillips as a robbery participant. Phillips’ statement also established his participation in the robbery. Admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 499, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989).

Finally, given the significant opportunity for Barnes to see Phillips during the robbery, it is speculative at best that a challenge to the identification would have been successful. A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process by an identification procedure that is so unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken

identification. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967). The in-court identification of the accused becomes inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000).

A two prong analysis is used to determine the admissibility of the out-of-court identification. The test is: 1) whether the identification process was unduly suggestive; and 2) whether the identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Biggers, supra; Moore, supra. Courts employing the test should consider the totality of circumstances. Biggers. A reviewing court should reverse the trial court's admission of eyewitness testimony only upon an abuse of the trial court's discretion. Moore, supra.

"Suggestiveness alone does not mandate the exclusion of evidence." State v. Mansfield, 343 S.C. 66, 78, 538 S.E.2d 257, 263 (Ct. App. 2000). Courts must consider the totality of circumstances and consider the following factors in deciding the likelihood of misidentification:

- 1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime;
- 2) the witness's degree of attention;
- 3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal;
- 4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation; and
- 5) the time between the crime and the confrontation.

State v. Washington, 323 S.C. 106, 473 S.E.2d 479, 481 (Ct. App. 1996). In the instant case, Barnes had met Phillips once before and she had an extended opportunity to view Phillips while the robbery was being planned and executed. Further opportunity occurred

while they fled and then searched for new robbery victims. Barnes initially identified another individual as "D." However, counsel noted that the photograph of this other person bore a lot of similarity to Phillips such that counsel did not want to place a picture of this person into evidence. App. p. 944. Therefore, even if challenged, the identification would have been admissible for the jury's consideration.

Accordingly, the PCR court correctly denied relief as probative evidence supports a finding that neither prong of Strickland was met. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989) (finding the PCR court's denial of an application for post-conviction relief will be upheld when supported by probative evidence).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied. If this Court sees fit to grant the petition, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.